#### IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 11/28/2022 11:25 AM Filed 11/28/2022 11:25 AM

#### CAPITAL RIVER ENTERPRISES, LLC, ET AL.

Appellants,

v.

#### CHRISTOPHER ABOD, ET AL.,

Appellees.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil Division

## BRIEF FOR APPELLANTS CAPITAL RIVER ENTERPRISES, LLC AND KUEI-YIN CHANG LIU

Benjamin G. Chew (D.C. Bar No. 418577) Andrew C. Crawford (D.C. Bar No. 1032080) BROWN RUDNICK LLP 601 13th Street, NW, Suite 600 Washington, DC 20005 Telephone: (202) 536-1785

## Statutes

D.C. Code § 29-801.07		
Other Sources		
Restatement (Second) of Agency § 381	24	
Title and Escrow Claims Guide § 13.4	24	
2 Title Ins. Law § 20:3 (2020 ed.)	24	
2 Title Ins. Law § 20:5 (2020 ed.)	24	

<sup>\*</sup> Cases principally relied on

#### **RULE 28(a)(5) STATEMENT**

This appeal is from a final order that disposed of all the parties' claims.

#### **RULE 28(a)(6) STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

Capital River and Ms. Liu submit this brief to address the following issues:

- 1. Did the Superior Court err in granting the Motions to Dismiss of Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas, and BCJCL and the Motion for Summary Judgment of Premium Title based on its finding that the submission of a forged and fraudulent operating agreement (in connection with obtaining loans secured by two Deeds of Trust) did not automatically void the two Deeds of Trust?
- 2. Did the Superior Court err in granting the Motions to Dismiss of Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas, and BCJCL and the Motion for Summary Judgment of Premium Title based on its finding that the Memorandum of Understanding provided Napoleon Ibiezugbe and Kevin Falkner with actual authority to encumber the Property at issue with two Deeds of Trust?
- 3. Did the Superior Court err in granting Premium Title's Motion for Summary Judgment as to Count Two of the Complaint alleging negligence?

#### **RULE 28(a)(7) STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case arises from a series of real estate transactions in which Capital River and Ms. Liu purchased two parcels of real property located at 2318 and 2322

Nicholson Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20009 (the "Property"). The Property subsequently became encumbered by two (unauthorized and void) Deeds of Trust held by Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas, and BCJCL. Capital River and Ms. Liu brought suit on January 29, 2022 in the Superior Court to both quiet title of the Property in their favor as against Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas, and BCJCL, and also to hold Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas, BCJCL, and Premium Title liable for various torts, including negligence, tortious interference, slander of title, and civil conspiracy. Appx.0001-0022.<sup>1</sup>

On March 7, 2022, Mr. Abod and Mr. Roupas moved to dismiss the Complaint. Appx.0105. On March 10, 2022, in an effectively identical motion, BCJCL also moved to dismiss the Complaint. Appx.0126. After briefing by the parties, the Superior Court granted both motions to dismiss on April 21, 2022. Appx.0218. Shortly thereafter, on May 25, 2022, Premium Title moved for summary judgment based on the Superior Court's April 21 Order on the motions to dismiss. Appx.0225. On July 6, 2022, the Superior Court granted Premium Title's Motion for Summary Judgment. Appx.0282. This appeal followed.

No discovery was conducted as to Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas, and BCJCL. An initial round of discovery requests were propounded on Premium Title, but the Superior Court granted Premium Title's Motion for Summary Judgment before any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to "Appx." refer to the Joint Appendix submitted contemporaneously herewith in accordance with Rule 30.

response. Thus, Capital River and Ms. Liu were deprived of any opportunity to take discovery.

#### **RULE 28(a)(8) STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS**

Capital River was formed on October 18, 2017 by its three members: Ms. Liu (50 percent owner), Napoleon Ibiezugbe (25 percent owner), and Kevin Falkner (25 percent owner). See Appx.0006; Appx.0026. The members were governed by Capital River's Operating Agreement ("Operating Agreement") and Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU"). See Appx.0006; Appx.0026; Appx.0123. As stated in those documents, Capital River was created for the sole purpose of purchasing the Property, obtaining a building permit for the Property, and selling the Property at a profit either (a) with the building permit attached or (b) after developing the Property. See Appx.0003; Appx.0007; Appx.0123. Capital River purchased the Property shortly after its formation on October 27, 2017. See Appx.0032-0039. Ms. Liu paid the full purchase price and closing costs for the Property, totaling \$1.6 million. See Appx.0006; Appx.0250; Appx.0275. As a result and as stated in the MOU, any return on the Property was to be paid first to Ms. Liu to recoup her \$1.6 million investment (plus 10 percent), after which profits would be allocated among the three Capital River members based on percentage ownership. See Appx.0007; Appx.0124. Ibiezugbe and Falkner, on the other hand, did not contribute anything to the purchase price of the Property and faced no financial risk in this venture. See

Appx.0006. Per the terms of the MOU, Ibiezugbe and Falkner were in charge of obtaining the building permit and completing development of the Property (should Capital River decide to proceed with that route prior to selling the Property). See Appx.0007; Appx.0123-24.

However, instead of obtaining the building permit, and without authority or permission, Ibiezugbe and Falkner used the Property as collateral (through two deeds of trust) to secure their own personal loans from Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas, and BCJCL. See Appx.0003; Appx.0251. Specifically, on or about April 1, 2019, Ibiezugbe and Falkner entered into a Deed of Trust and Security Agreement, Assignment of Leases and Rents ("First Deed of Trust") pursuant to which Mr. Abod and Mr. Roupas acquired an interest in the Property in exchange for a loan of \$499,000 to Ibiezugbe and Falkner (the First Deed of Trust secured two promissory notes). See Appx.0042-86. Then, on or about November 5, 2019, Ibiezugbe and Falkner entered into a Second Deed of Trust pursuant to which BCJCL acquired an interest in the Property in exchange for a loan of \$375,000 to Ibiezugbe and Falkner (collectively with the First Deed of Trust, the "Deeds of Trust"). See Appx.0088-104.

Ibiezugbe and Falkner obtained these loans through use of a **forged and fraudulent** operating agreement for Capital River that completely omitted Ms. Liu's
50 percent ownership interest and instead represented that Ibiezugbe and Falkner

were the sole members of Capital River.<sup>2</sup> <u>See</u> Appx.0003; Appx.0009; Appx.0251. Ibiezugbe and Falkner created and used a forged/fraudulent operating agreement to obtain these personal loans because they knew they did not have authority under the real Capital River Operating Agreement and MOU to encumber the Property. <u>See</u> Appx.0009; Appx.0251. They have admitted that fact multiple times, both in conversations with Appellants' agents (Yu-Dee Chang and Jerry Boutcher) and in writing. <u>See</u> Appx.0009; Appx.0181; Appx.0251.

These loans, totaling \$874,000, were in no way related to, or for the benefit of, Capital River. See Appx.0003; Appx.0251. Neither Ms. Liu nor Capital River ever received the loans. See Appx.0003; Appx.0008. They were fraudulently obtained personal loans for Ibiezugbe and Falkner. See Appx.0003; Appx.0251. Ultimately, Ms. Liu had no idea that these loans were even obtained by Ibiezugbe and Falkner, or that the Property had been encumbered, until over a year later when she discovered the liens on the Property through an independent title search conducted by her agents, Mr. Chang and Mr. Boutcher. See Appx.0003; Appx.0251. When confronted by Mr. Chang and Mr. Boutcher about the Deeds of Trust, Ibiezugbe and Falkner admitted that they did not have authority under the real Operating Agreement and MOU to use the Property as collateral, and that they used

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Upon information and belief, and as alleged in the Complaint, Ibiezugbe and Falkner also submitted a forged and fraudulent unanimous consent of members in connection with securing the Deeds of Trust. <u>See</u> Appx.0003; Appx.0004.

a forged/fraudulent operating agreement to obtain the loans. <u>See</u> Appx.0009; Appx.0251. The Complaint alleged that Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas, BCJCL, and Premium Title each knew or should have known that Ibiezugbe and Falkner lacked authority to enter into the Deeds of Trust. See Appx.0004; Appx.0014; Appx.0015.

For its part, Premium Title served as the settlement and escrow agent for both Capital River's original purchase of the Property in October 2017 *and* for the Deeds of Trust in 2019. See Appx.0013; Appx.0032; Appx.0081; Appx.0101. In fact, the same exact person, Lola Shannon, served as the closing agent for all three transactions. See Appx.0013; Appx.0036; Appx.0081; Appx.0101; Appx.0254. In its capacity as the settlement/escrow agent for purchase of the Property in 2017, Premium Title received a copy of the true and correct Capital River Operating Agreement in an October 27, 2017 email from Jerry Boutcher.<sup>3</sup> See Appx.0010-11; Appx.0250; Appx.0254-262; Appx.0273. This, of course, means that Premium Title knew that Capital River had three members, including Ms. Liu as the 50 percent owner. See Appx.0004; Appx.0010-11; Appx.0254-262. Moreover, Premium Title knew that the \$1.6 million purchase amount came from Ms. Liu. See Appx.0013; Appx.0019; Appx.0275; see also Premium Title's Answer at ¶ 23 ("Admitted as to receipt of payment from Ms. Liu's account."). Despite these facts, Premium Title

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Premium Title dealt almost exclusively with Mr. Boutcher in connection with the original purchase of the Property. Appx.0011.

proceeded with closing the Deeds of Trust even though Ms. Liu's 50 percent interest had mysteriously disappeared from the operating agreement and Mr. Boutcher was no longer involved in the deals. See Appx.0013-14. And, Premium Title proceeded without notifying Ms. Liu (or her agents Mr. Boutcher or Mr. Chang) about the fraudulent operating agreement submitted by Ibiezugbe and Falkner. See Appx.0019. Capital River and Ms. Liu were harmed by Premium Title's actions (and inactions). See Appx.0020; Appx.0252.

At the Superior Court level, Capital River and Ms. Liu brought suit to quiet title of the Property in their favor, alleging in the Complaint two separate grounds for doing so: (1) that the Deeds of Trust were void because they were secured by Ibiezugbe and Falkner through use of a forged and fraudulent Capital River operating agreement; and (2) that the Deeds of Trust were void because Ibiezugbe and Falkner exceeded their authority and that the Defendants/Appellees knew Ibiezugbe and Falkner lacked authority. Appx.0018. Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas, and BCJCL all moved to dismiss the Complaint, arguing that the MOU gave Ibiezugbe and Falkner actual authority to encumber the Property. See Appx.0115-117; Appx.0136-138. The Superior Court agreed, finding that "The MOU authority is clear and unambiguous and provided Ibiezugbe and Falkner with actual authority to make 'major decisions and choices regarding the Property' with a two-third majority vote of the Members, which would include borrowing and encumbering the Property

with the First and Second Deeds of Trust." <u>See</u> Appx.0221. The Superior Court also determined that because Ibiezugbe and Falkner purportedly had actual authority to encumber the Property, it did not matter that they submitted a fraudulent operating agreement in connection with securing the Deeds of Trust. <u>See</u> Appx.0221. These findings served as the basis for the Superior Court's dismissal of all claims (the quiet title claim and various tort claims) against Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas, and BCJCL. <u>See</u> Appx.0220-224. Moreover, following this decision, Premium Title moved for summary judgment, invoking the same argument as Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas, and BCJCL (that the MOU provided actual authority for Ibiezugbe and Falkner to act) and citing to the Superior Court's decision. <u>See</u> Appx.0227-230. The Superior Court then granted Premium Title's summary judgment motion on the same grounds. <u>See</u> Appx.0282-288. This appeal followed.

#### **RULE 28(a)(9) SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

It is well-settled law in the District of Columbia that property rights cannot be acquired by means of a forged instrument relating to the property. Here, because Ibiezugbe and Falkner submitted a forged and fraudulent operating agreement for Capital River in connection with obtaining the loans secured by the Deeds of Trust, the Deeds of Trust are void *ab initio* under D.C. law and the interests in the Property of Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas, and BCJCL are null. However, the Superior Court ignored this black letter law. In granting the motions to dismiss of Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas,

and BCJCL, as well as the motion for summary judgment of Premium Title, the Superior Court ultimately held it was of no consequence that Ibiezugbe and Falkner submitted fraudulent documents in obtaining the loans. In so holding, the Superior Court effectively authorized fraud.

Instead, the Superior Court focused exclusively on the MOU and incorrectly determined that the MOU gave Ibiezugbe and Falkner actual authority to use the Property as collateral for their own personal loans. First, under D.C. law, whether Ibiezugbe and Falkner had actual authority to use the Property as collateral is a separate and distinct ground for voiding the Deeds of Trust. In other words, the Deeds of Trust are void under D.C. law if either the transaction involved forged/fraudulent documents or if Ibiezugbe and Falkner exceeded their actual authority. The Superior Court improperly disregarded the fraud committed by Ibiezugbe and Falkner by finding it does not automatically void the Deeds of Trust. Separately, the Superior Court also erred in determining that Ibiezugbe and Falkner had actual authority to use the Property as collateral to secure their own personal loans. Indeed, even Ibiezugbe and Falkner have admitted that they lacked authority to take this action without Ms. Liu's signoff.

Additionally, even if the Superior Court correctly determined that Ibiezugbe and Falkner had actual authority to enter into the Deeds of Trust *and* that it did not matter Ibiezugbe and Falkner submitted a fraudulent operating agreement to

complete the transactions, the Superior Court *still* erred in granting Premium Title's motion for summary judgment as to Count Two of the Complaint, negligence. As the settlement/escrow agent, Premium Title owed various duties to Capital River and Ms. Liu, including a duty of reasonable care. The full scope of the standard of care is properly determined by a jury, not the Superior Court, but it is clear that Premium Title's duties included a duty to inform Capital River and Ms. Liu of fraud. Premium Title received a true and correct copy of the Operating Agreement when Capital River purchased the Property in 2017 and therefore knew or should have known that the operating agreement submitted by Ibiezugbe and Falkner in connection with the Deeds of Trust was forged and fraudulent. Premium Title failed in its duties which caused harm to Capital River and Ms. Liu (whether the alleged breaches of duty caused harm also is a question for the jury to decide, not the Superior Court on a motion for summary judgment). Capital River and Ms. Liu should have been afforded an opportunity to prove at trial (a) what the standard of care is for Premium Title; and (b) that Premium Title's breaches of duty led directly to the harm Capital River and Ms. Liu suffered.

#### **ARGUMENT**

1. The Superior Court erred in granting the Appellees' Motions to Dismiss and Motion for Summary Judgment based on its finding that the submission of a forged and fraudulent operating agreement did not automatically void the two Deeds of Trust.

#### A. Standard of Review

"The only issue on review of a dismissal made pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is the legal sufficiency of the complaint." Scott v. FedChoice Fed. Credit Union, 274 A.3d 318, 322 (D.C. 2022). "As a motion to dismiss a complaint 'presents questions of law, our standard of review ... is de novo." Id. (citing to Johnson-El v. District of Columbia, 579 A.2d 163, 166 (D.C. 1990)). "All that is required for a complaint to be sufficient is 'a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.' We 'construe the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff by taking the facts alleged in the complaint as true.' The complaint need only 'contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to 'state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face." Id. (internal citations omitted). "In the District of Columbia, an action to quiet title may not be dismissed for failure to state a claim when the complaint alleges, as appellants' complaint does, that the plaintiffs are the owners of the land in fee simple." In re Tyree, 493 A.2d 314, 317 (D.C. 1985) (citations omitted).

The Court will "review orders granting summary judgment *de novo*." <u>Steward v. Moskowitz</u>, 5 A.3d 638, 646 (D.C. 2010). Consequently, the Court will "consider

the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, and conduct an independent review of the record." <u>Id.</u> (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). "It is well-established that '[s]ummary judgment is properly granted only if there are no genuine issues of material fact in dispute and if the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." <u>Id.</u> "Cases in which issues of negligence and proximate cause will not be for the jury are unusual." <u>D.C. v. Watkins</u>, 684 A.2d 395, 401 (D.C. 1996).

#### B. Discussion

It is well-settled law in the District of Columbia that property rights cannot be acquired by means of a forged instrument relating to the property. There is extensive case law in the District of Columbia (and elsewhere) supporting this black-letter rule of law. Smith v. Wells Fargo, a quiet title case with analogous facts to this case, is instructive. See 991 A.2d 20 (D.C. 2010). In that case, Willie Smith was the fee simple owner of real property located in the District of Columbia. See id. at 22. Mr. Smith purportedly executed a "Durable Power of Attorney" ("POA") that named his daughter, Mary Smith, as his Attorney in Fact and authorized her to convey any interest in Mr. Smith's real property. See id. Shortly thereafter, Ms. Smith executed a deed transferring the property to herself. See id. Ms. Smith then obtained a mortgage on the property upon execution of a deed of trust, which deed of trust eventually came to be held by the defendant in the action, Wells Fargo. See id. at 23.

Plaintiffs in the action were several of Mr. Smith's other children who filed suit against Wells Fargo and Mary Smith to quiet title and declare that the deed of trust was invalid, null, and void on the grounds that the POA pursuant to which Mary Smith transferred the property was a forgery. See id. The trial court granted summary judgment in Wells Fargo's favor, finding that Wells Fargo was a bona fide purchaser for value. See id. at 24. The D.C. Court of Appeals, however, reversed and remanded the trial court's decision, recognizing that "BFP [bona fide purchaser] status, though affording some protection, would not protect Wells Fargo if the conveyances underlying Wells Fargo's interest in the property were void ab initio." See id. at 26. The Court continued: "The underlying deed to Mary Smith and the deed of trust in favor of her mortgage lender would be void if the POA was a forgery, or if the POA was valid but Mary Smith exceeded the authority it gave her as attorney-in-fact when she conveyed the property to herself." See id. at 26-27. Ultimately, the Smith Court held:

As explained above, if the POA was a forgery, it rendered ineffectual the deed by which Mary Smith conveyed the property to herself and the deed of trust that she executed, which is the basis of Wells Fargo's interest in the property[], because even a bona fide purchaser cannot acquire a property right by means of a forged instrument relating to the property.

See id. at 31 (emphasis added).

Thus, the D.C. Court of Appeals recognized in <u>Smith</u> that the Deeds of Trust themselves do *not* need to be forged in order for the transactions to be void. Rather,

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