In the

District of Columbia Court of Appeals



CAPITAL RIVER ENTERPRISES, LLC, et al.,

Appellants,

ν.

CHRISTOPHER ABOD, et al.,

Appellees.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division, in Case 2022 CA 000258 R(RP) (Hon. Hiram E. Puig-Lugo, Associate Judge)

JOINT BRIEF OF APPELLEES HARRY ROUPAS. CHRISTOPHER ABOD AND BCJCL, LLC

*DAVID S. PANZER D.C. Bar No. 470677 WARD & BERRY, PLLC 1751 Pinnacle Drive, Suite 900 Tysons, Virginia 22102 (202) 331-8160 panzer@wardberry.com

Counsel for BCJCL, LLC

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. An Allegedly Altered Operating Agreement Provides no Basis to Void the DOTs.

Appellants argue repeatedly (at least twenty times in their brief, and frequently in bold font) that Mr. Abod, Mr. Roupas, and BCJCL granted the loans at issue based on an allegedly "forged and fraudulent" operating agreement, and therefore the DOTs are void *ab initio*. This argument—the crux of Appellants' case—is factually unsupported and legally wrong.

Factually, there is no forged operating agreement in the record and the description of its contents is made "[u]pon information and belief."³⁴

Appellants' focus on an allegedly altered operating agreement distracts from the controlling issue in this appeal—the fact that Mr. Falkner and Mr. Ibiezugbe had actual authority to execute and grant the DOTs on behalf of Capital River pursuant to the terms of the real Operating Agreement and MOU, which Ms. Liu voluntarily executed and agreed would govern the operations of Capital River. This issue is addressed in detail in Section B, below. As the Superior Court correctly held, however, even if Appellants' claim of a forged and fraudulent operating agreement is assumed to be true, it would not affect the validity of the DOTs.

As a matter of law, if the DOTs themselves were forged, they would be incapable of conveying any interest in the Property to Appellees and would likely be held void *ab initio*. *See McNairy v. Baxter*, 320 B.R. 30, 39 (Bankr. D.D.C. 2004) ("[I]f the Limited Power of Attorney was a forgery, the deed of trust executed pursuant to the Limited Power of Attorney is ineffective."); *see also M.M. & G., Inc., v. Jackson*, 612 A.2d 186, 191 (D.C. 1992) ("It is well settled that a forged deed cannot validly transfer property and that even a bona fide purchaser takes nothing from that conveyance."). However, the DOTs

³⁴ Appx. 0003.

were not forged. Appellants do not even allege that the DOTs were forged. Rather, their claim is that an operating agreement was allegedly altered. From this assertion, they leap to the conclusion that the DOTs should be declared void. The law does not support this argument for two reasons.

First, even if the operating agreement was altered (as Appellants allege), that fact would not render the DOTs void. The DOTs remain duly authorized and recorded conveyances of real property.³⁵ This case is similar to *Pitman Place Dev., LLC v. Howard Invs., LLC*, 330 S.W.3d 519 (Mo. Ct. App. 2010), in which the development company Pitman Place Development, LLC ("Pittman") borrowed \$525,000 (secured by a deed of trust) from lender Howard Investments, LLC, through the use of a fraudulently altered operating agreement, which contained a false provision allowing Matt Burghoff (a single member of the LLC) to borrow \$750,000 on behalf of Pittman. *Id.* at

_

³⁵ In their Brief (at 8), Appellants misstate the conclusions of the trial court by alleging the trial court held that, "because Ibiezugbe and Falkner purportedly had actual authority to encumber the Property, it did not matter that they submitted a fraudulent operating agreement in connection with securing the Deeds of Trust." In fact, the trial court wrote that, merely because "Ibiezugbe and Falkner <u>may have</u> secured the First and Second Deeds of Trust through the use of a fraudulently altered Operating Agreement, <u>as alleged in the complaint</u>, does not automatically void the First and Second Deeds of Trust." (Appx. 0221) (emphasis added). The trial court made no finding that an altered operating agreement existed or was used in the settlements of the DOTs. This is one more example of the Appellants bending the record to suit their preferred version of events.

524. However, in *Pitman Place*, the Missouri Court of Appeals did not "void" the Howard Investments deed of trust based on the fraudulently altered operating agreement; rather, the court conducted a review of whether Burghoff had actual or apparent authority to obtain the loan on behalf of Pittman—ultimately concluding that the deed of trust was enforceable because "Burghoff had apparent authority to enter into transactions such as the Rockwood Bank loan transaction under the Operating Agreement," even though all parties to the transaction agreed that Burghoff fraudulently altered the Pittman operating agreement to obtain the loan. *Id.* at 527. Likewise, in this case, Mr. Ibiezugbe and Mr. Falkner had actual authority to enter into the transactions at issue. This remains true irrespective of whether they created an altered operating agreement, as Appellants claim.

³⁶ Littleton Constr. Ltd. v. Huber Constr., Inc., 27 N.Y.3d 1081 (2016) is similarly analogous. There, Littleton (a construction company) and another construction company (Huber) entered into a joint venture (controlled by an operating agreement) for a series of renovation projects in a public school district. At trial, the court held that the purported operating agreement between Littleton and Huber was forged. In so finding, the court invalidated the operating agreement and held that "[w]ith the operating agreement invalidated, the governing contract was the parties' memorandum of understanding, which was indisputably signed by both parties. Id. at 1083 (emphasis added). See also Scotch Bonnett v. Matthews, 417 Md. 570, 588 (2011) ("The use of a deed that is neither a forged document, nor signed with a forged signature, but which derives its 'transactional vitality' from forged corporate articles of amendment, does not render a conveyance of land void ab initio; rather, good title is transferred to bona fide purchasers for value without notice.").

In their Brief, Appellants principally rely on a single District of Columbia case to support their position that the DOTs would be void in the event the Operating Agreement and/or consent of the members³⁷ had been altered as alleged: *Smith v. Wells Fargo Bank*, 991 A.2d 20 (D.C. 2010). However, *Smith* is entirely inapposite and further supports the trial court's dismissal of the Complaint.

In *Smith*, Willie Smith owned real property located at 3061 Vista Street, NE. *Id.* at 32. On November 4, 2005, Willie Smith allegedly executed a durable power of attorney naming his daughter, Mary A. Smith, as his attorney in fact, granting her the power to "sell, lease, grant, encumber, release or otherwise convey any interest in my real property and to execute deeds and all other instruments on my behalf." *Id.* On November 15, 2005, Mary Smith executed a deed transferring the property from "Mary Smith, agent for Willie Smith" to herself for the consideration of ten dollars. One day later, Willie Smith died without a will. *Id.*

-

³⁷ In their Brief (at 5, n.2), Appellants state ("upon information and belief") that a "consent of the members" was also forged or altered while—at the same time—alleging that Premium Title breached their standard of care by "failing to obtain a resolution from all members." Appellants' Brief at 25. As they do in their Complaint, Appellants have "loaded up" their Brief with as many disparate and contradictory claims as possible in the hopes that one contention "sticks" in this case.

On November 3, 2006, Mary Smith obtained a mortgage loan on the property in the amount of \$220,000 upon execution of a deed of trust that was subsequently acquired by Wells Fargo. *Id.* at 23. On June 8, 2007, the other surviving children of Willie Smith brought a complaint to quiet title against Mary Smith and Wells Fargo, contending the POA did not grant Mary Smith the power to convey the property to herself as a gift, and alleging the signature on the POA was a forgery. *Id.* On appeal, the Court of Appeals held that—while the general power-to-convey provisions of the POA did not authorize Mary Smith to convey the property to herself—the language in the POA gave Ms. Smith apparent authority to transfer the property to herself as a gift, and held that Wells Fargo was to be protected as a bona fide purchaser. *Id.*

Simply stated, the *Smith* case has nothing to do with operating agreements; the case is generally cited for the proposition that a deed (or deed of trust) will be void if obtained by a forged power of attorney,³⁸ however,

³⁸ In the District of Columbia, forged powers of attorney cannot convey any interest in real property because, under well-established real property law, a "general or specific power of attorney executed by a person authorizing an attorney-in-fact to sell, grant, or release any interest in real property shall be executed in the same manner as a deed and shall be recorded with or prior to the deed executed pursuant to the power of attorney." D.C. Code § 42-101(a); see also McNairy v. Baxter, 320 B.R. 30, 34, 39 (Bankr. D.D.C. 2004). Although settlement companies often review operating agreements as part of the closing of a loan, there is no similar requirement in the District of Columbia that operating agreements be executed or recorded in order to grant

even facially defective powers of attorney can be sufficient to convey real property depending on the authority actually or apparently provided to the agent.

Appellants' Brief (at 14) also cites to Levi v. Commonw. Land Title Ins., 2013 WL 5708402 (S.D.N.Y., Oct. 21, 2013) for the incorrect proposition that a "mortgage was unenforceable because it was obtained using a forged/fraudulent LLC operating agreement that falsely represented defendant was 60% owner." In Levi, a property located at 2141 Lenox Avenue in New York City was conveyed in 2008 from Henry Vargas to Peter Skylass through use of an operating agreement that showed Mr. Vargas was a 60% owner of the company (2141 MD) that owned the Lenox Avenue Property, when—in fact—Mr. Vargas was entirely unaffiliated with 2141 MD and had no interest in the company or the property. The United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (in a prior opinion) held that "because Vargas had no authority to bind 2141 MD, the mortgage in which he purported to do so was unenforceable." *Id.* at *3. However, contrary to Appellants' assertions, the deed of trust at issue in Levi was not voided due to a forged operating

or record a deed, or to validly convey an interest in real property. Therefore, there is no basis for Appellants' conclusion that the mere presentation of an altered operating agreement to a settlement company as part of a loan closing transaction would, by itself, void a resulting deed of trust.

agreement, it was voided based on the lack of actual authority of Mr. Vargas to convey the property.

Here, as in *Pitman Place*, merely because Mr. Ibiezugbe and Mr. Falkner may have presented an allegedly altered operating agreement and/or consent of the members for Capital River as part of the settlement of the DOTs provides no independent basis to "void" the DOTs. Rather, the relevant question as properly recognized by the trial court was whether, pursuant to the plain terms of the MOU, Mr. Ibiezugbe and Mr. Falkner had actual authority to obtain the DOTs on behalf of Capital River.³⁹ Because the plain and unambiguous terms of the MOU provided Mr. Ibiezugbe and Mr. Falkner with the requisite actual authority, there is no basis to declare that the DOTs are void, and the trial court's dismissal of Count I of the Complaint should be affirmed.

Second, even setting aside the foregoing, Appellants' argument is incorrect because an allegedly <u>altered</u> operating agreement would not even constitute forgery. "Forgery is defined as the <u>signing of the name of another</u>

³⁹ In their Brief (at 4, 5, 9, 18-20, 22) Appellants repeatedly assert that the DOTs secured "personal loans" made to Mr. Ibiezugbe and Mr. Falkner. This bald representation is unsupported by the plain terms of the DOTs, which were granted and executed on behalf of Capital River. For the avoidance of any doubt, however, two promissory notes at issue (Appx. 0195; Appx. 0202) were both executed by Capital River and represented loans made to the LLC and not to Mr. Ibiezugbe and Mr. Falkner personally.

person or organization with the intent to deceive but does not mean a signature that consists in whole or in part of one's own name signed with or without authority in any capacity for any purpose." Depositors forgery and other crime coverages, 3 Casualty Insurance Claims § 48:16 (4th ed.) (emphasis added); see also United States v. Gilbert, 433 F.2d 1172, 1173 (D.C. Cir. 1970) (holding that when "a defendant is charged with forging the name of a real or existing person, lack of authority is an essential part of the crime of forgery. . . to establish falsity in a forgery charge it must be made to appear not only that the person whose name is signed to the instrument did not sign it, but also it must be established by competent evidence that the name was signed by defendant without authority") (internal quotation omitted); Forgery or Alteration, 11A Couch on Ins. § 167:49 ("Forgery is generally understood to mean the signing of the name of another person or organization with intent to deceive. A signature consisting of one's own name, even if signed without authority, cannot constitute forgery as that term is used in a financial institution bond."). There is no argument that Mr. Ibiezugbe or Mr. Falkner signed Ms. Liu's (or anyone else's) name to the alleged operating agreement. The allegation, rather, is that they presented an altered agreement that did not include Ms. Liu as a member. This would not be a forgery, and therefore the case law addressing forged documents on which Appellants rely is irrelevant.

For this additional, reason, the Superior Court's order dismissing Count I of the Complaint should be affirmed.

- B. Mr. Ibiezugbe and Mr. Falkner Had Actual Authority to Grant the DOTs.
 - 1. The MOU Unambiguously Provides that Mr. Ibiezugbe and Mr. Falkner had Actual Authority to Execute and Grant the DOTs.

Here, the plain language of the MOU confirms that Mr. Ibiezugbe and Mr. Falkner had actual authority to make "major decisions and choices regarding the Property," which would include encumbering the Property with the DOTs.

The operating agreement is to be interpreted by the Court as a contract. *Parker v. United States Tr. Co.*, 30 A.3d 147, 149 (D.C. 2011). As such, it must be interpreted in the same manner as any other contract, limiting the analysis to "plain meaning of the contractual terms if they are otherwise unambiguous." *2301 M St. Coop. Ass'n v. Chromium LLC*, 209 A.3d 82, 87 (D.C. 2019). "The proper interpretation of a contract term is a question of law, which this court reviews *de novo*." *BSA 77 P St. LLC v. Hawkins*, 983 A.2d 988, 993 (D.C. 2009).

In their Brief (at 21), Appellants contend that, "at a minimum, the MOU language is ambiguous" and that "Capital River and Ms. Liu should be entitled to present evidence as to the Capital River members' understanding and

intention of the MOU"—a contention Appellants first raised in their Oppositions⁴⁰ to the Motions to Dismiss in the trial court.

However, even if this argument is considered, a contract is ambiguous "[i]f there is more than one interpretation that a reasonable person could ascribe to the contract, while viewing the contract in context of the circumstances surrounding its making." *Gryce v. Lavine*, 675 A.2d 67, 69 (D.C. 1996). "A contract is not rendered ambiguous merely because the parties disagree over its proper interpretation." *Id.* at 69 (citing *Holland v. Hannan*, 456 A.2d 807, 815 (D.C. 1983)). Rather, a contract is ambiguous "when, and only when, it is, or the provisions in controversy are, reasonably or fairly susceptible of different constructions or interpretations, or of two or more different meanings." *Holland*, 456 A.2d at 815 (quoting *Burbridge v. Howard Univ.*, 305 A.2d 245, 247 (D.C. 1973)).⁴¹

4

⁴⁰ Appx. 0154; Appx. 0174.

Agreement and MOU are construed under Virginia law). See Westmoreland-LG&E Partners v. Virginia Elec. & Power Co., 486 S.E.2d 289, 294 (1997) (interpreting an operating agreement as a contract and holding that "[p]arol evidence of prior or contemporaneous oral negotiations are generally inadmissible to alter, contradict, or explain the terms of a written instrument provided the document is complete, unambiguous, and unconditional . . . Contracts are not rendered ambiguous merely because the parties or their attorneys disagree upon the meaning of the language employed to express the agreement. Even though an agreement may have been drawn unartfully, the court must construe the language as written if its parts can be read together without conflict." (internal citation and quotation omitted).

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